
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

October 21, 2014 5:15 P.M. 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations  
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 10-07-2014 Council Minutes 
 

6. Public Hearing and Motion to approve APPLICATION # AN 12-05-01 to approve 
annexation and zoning: 
 
A) W & L Developers, LLC requests annexation by the 100% method and zoning of 

13.05 acres of property located at 665 S&S Railroad Bed Road from R25 (Single 
Family Residential – Bulloch County) to R10 (Single Family Residential) (Tax Parcel 
Number 107 000007 000). 
a) Consideration of a motion to approve second reading of Annexation Ordinance 

2014-03 for annexation by the 100% method filed by W&L Developers, LLC to 
annex 13.05 acres of property located on S&S Railroad Bed Road into the City of 
Statesboro. (Tax Map  107 00000 7000) 

 
B) W & L Developers, LLC requests annexation by the 100% method and zoning of 1 

acre of property located at 665 S&S Railroad Bed Road from R25 (Single Family 
Residential – Bulloch County) to R10 (Single Family Residential) (Tax Parcel 
Number 107 00006A 000). 
a) Consideration of a motion to approve second reading of Annexation Ordinance 

2014-04 for annexation by the 100% method filed by W&L Developers, LLC to 
annex 1 acre of property located on S&S Railroad Bed Road into the City of 
Statesboro. (Tax Map 107 00006A 000) 

 
7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve APPLICATION #  RZ 14-

08-03:  Hendley Properties requests a zoning map amendment to rezone .916 acre of 
property  for Lots 4, 5, 6 & B located on Walnut Street from O (Office) district to R4 
(High Density Residential) district  to allow for the development of the proposed duplex 
 concept plan (Tax Parcel Number S19 000035 002). 
 
 
 



 
 

8. Consideration of a Motion to approve architectural design concept by Studio 3 Design 
Group to allow for the development and bid of construction documents for the City 
owned buildings at 56 and 58 East Main Street and the adjoining alley to be utilized as 
the Georgia Southern University / City of Statesboro Fabrication Laboratory and 
Business Innovation Center.  
 

9. Consideration of a Motion to approve/deny a 90 day temporary alcohol license to Vincent 
Kochetta, CFO of A.M. Braswell, Jr. Food Company in accordance with Chapter 6 
(Alcohol) Sec.6-34 (a) of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinance. 

 
10. Consideration of a Motion to approve/deny a 90 day temporary alcohol license to 

Christian Bennett for SLRG Holdings Inc. doing business as Club 125 in accordance with 
Chapter 6 (Alcohol) Sec.6-34 (a) of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinance. 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to adopt Resolution 2014-32: A Resolution accepting the right 
of way of Arch Way as a public street to be owned and maintained by the City of 
Statesboro.  
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to award bid for 2013 CDBG construction contract to 
Southeastern Civil, Inc. in the amount of $484,835.50 to be paid from the $500,000.00            
2013 Community Development Block Grant award to the City of Statesboro from the 
Georgia Department of Community Affairs. 

 
13. Other Business from City Council 

A) Update on the internal investigation regarding the Open Meetings Act. 
B) Discussion of the employment terms for the Interim City Manager 

 
14. City Managers Comments 

 
15. Public Comments (General) 

 
16. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss  “Real Estate”  in 

accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 

17. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 
October 07, 2014 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on October 7th, 2014 at 9:00 a.m. in 
the Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Will 
Britt, Phil Boyum, John Riggs, Gary Lewis and Travis Chance.  Also present were Interim City 
Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, Assistant City 
Engineer Jason Boyles and Director of Community Development Mandi Cody. 
 
The meeting was call to Order by Mayor Jan Moore 

 
The Invocation was given by Director of DSDA Allen Muldrew and the Pledge of Allegiance was led by 
Councilman Travis Chance. 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations: 

A) Proclamation for National Disability Employment Awareness Month 
 
Mayor Moore presented the National Disability Employment Awareness proclamation to Tiffany 
Williams who was representing the organization. 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a)  09-16-2014 Council Minutes 
b)  09-16-2014 Public Hearing Minutes 
c)  09-24-2014 Called Council Minutes 

B) Consideration of a Motion to enter into a Water Tank Maintenance Contract with 
Utility Service Company, Inc., in the amount of $13,925.00 per year for the 500,000 
gallon Gateway water tank, which is located on J.C. Cannady Road. 

C) Consideration of a Motion and Second Reading of Ordinance 2014-02: An Ordinance 
Amending Chapter 2 of the Statesboro Municipal Code Regarding Authorities, Boards 
and Commissions- Statesboro Planning Commission. 

D) Consideration of a Motion to approve Special Event Permit 
a) 11-07-2014- Averitt Center for the Arts-Annual Statesboro Regional Arts 

  Association 
b) 11-07-2014- Averitt Center for the Arts-"Sordid Lives" STAR Production-2 Act 

 Play 
c) 11-15-2014-Averitt Center for the Arts-Ney Rosauro & GSU Percussion 

Ensemble 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve the consent agenda 
in its entirety. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 



 
 

Administrative Hearing for alcohol violations: (Furnishing Alcohol to persons under 21) 
A) Ruby Tuesday 

Scarlett May and Roger L. Collier 
B) South City Tavern 

Christopher Scott Springfield 
C) El Sombrero(Buckhead Drive) 

Avel Leon 
D) Gata’s 

Christian Bennett 
E) Big Show Burgers 

Heath Robinson 
F) Statesboro Millhouse 

Thomas C. Jones 
 
  
 Mr. Collier, owner of Ruby Tuesday’s, waived his right to a hearing and agreed to the violation of 
furnishing alcohol to under age persons. Mayor Moore then asked for a motion and Mr. Collier agreed 
that based on the evidence presented here today that Council finds that the licensee, his agents, and or 
employees did violate Chapter 6 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Statesboro in the twelve month 
period immediately preceding this hearing.  Councilman Boyum made the motion, seconded by 
Councilman Lewis to accept the guilty plea from Mr. Collier. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis 
and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
For the penalty of the violation, Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to 
consider this a first offense with a warning. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
 Mr. Springfield, owner of South City Tavern, waived his right to a hearing and agreed to the violation of 
furnishing alcohol to under age persons. Mayor Moore then asked for a motion and Mr. Springfield 
agreed that based on the evidence presented here today that Council finds that the licensee, his agents, and 
or employees did violate Chapter 6 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Statesboro in the twelve 
month period immediately preceding this hearing. Councilman Chance made the motion, seconded by 
Councilman Boyum to accept the guilty plea from Mr. Springfield. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, 
Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
For the penalty of the violation, Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to 
consider this a first offense with a warning. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
 Avel Leon, owner of El Sombrero; Christian Bennett, owner of GATA’S; Heath Robinson, owner of Big 
Show Burgers; and Thomas Jones, owner of Statesboro Millhouse , waived their rights to a hearing and 
agreed to the violation of furnishing alcohol to under age persons. Mayor Moore then asked for a motion 
and Mr. Leon, Mr. Bennett, Mr. Robinson and Mr. Jones agreed that based on the evidence presented here 
today that Council finds that the licensee, his agents, and or employees did violate Chapter 6 of the Code 
of Ordinances of the City of Statesboro in the twelve month period immediately preceding this hearing. 
Councilman Boyum made the motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to accept the guilty plea from Mr. 
Leon, Mr. Bennett, Mr. Robinson and Mr. Thomas. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 



 
 

For the penalty of the violation, Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to 
consider this a first offense with a warning. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a motion to approve first reading of Annexation Ordinance 2014-03 for 
annexation by the 100% method filed by W&L Developers, LLC to annex 13.05 acres of property 
located on S&S Railroad Bed Road into the City of Statesboro. (Tax Map 107 00000 7000) 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to approve first reading of 
Annexation Ordinance 2014-03 for annexation by the 100% method filed by W&L Developers, LLC to 
annex 13.05 acres of property located on S&S Railroad Bed Road into the City of Statesboro  (Tax Map 
107 00000 7000). Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a motion to approve first reading of Annexation Ordinance 2014-04 for 
annexation by the 100% method filed by W&L Developers, LLC to annex 1 acre of property 
located on S&S Railroad Bed Road into the City of Statesboro. (Tax Map 107 00006A 000) 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve first reading of 
Annexation Ordinance 2014-04 for annexation by the 100% method filed by W&L Developers, LLC to 
annex 1 acre of property located on S&S Railroad Bed Road into the City of Statesboro. (Tax Map 107 
00006A 000). Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve a developer’s request to connect or extend City water 
services outside the City Limits 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve (with a 
Memorandum of Understanding) a developer’s request to connect or extend City water services outside 
the City Limits. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 5-0 vote.  
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the change order No.1 for the Whitesville lifts station 
upgrade and Lakeview Force Main Extension.  
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve the change order 
No.1 for the Whitesville lifts station upgrade and Lakeview Force Main Extension.  Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 

 
Presentation from Public Safety Director Wendell Turner regarding findings and 
recommendations for underage drinking of alcoholic beverages 
 
Director of Public Safety Wendell Turner and Lt. Rob Bryan spoke about the findings and 
recommendations for underage drinking and presented a proposed plan of action based on the outline of 
the Athens-Clarke County Alcohol Policy.   Councilman Chance asked why the cases from 2013 did not 
make it to Council for Administrative Hearings. There was not an answer to the question. Mr. Turner also 
asked Council if they had an interest in creating a position for an Alcohol Beverage Control Police 
Officer (ABC). The position was received in a positive manner. 

 
Other Business from City Council 



 
 

 
Councilman Riggs asked about the next work session for the alcohol ordinance. Mayor Moore and 
Council discussed the upcoming work sessions for alcohol and budgets. The general consensus was to 
have alternate work sessions with alcohol and budgets. The work session would be at 4:00 pm before the 
evening Council meeting at 5:15 pm and immediately following the morning meeting at 9:00 am.  
Mayor Moore updated Council on the investigation by Tom Peterson. She stated Mr. Peterson hopes to 
have the report complete by the next Council meeting.  
Mayor also addressed the question of why the 2013 citations for alcohol violations were not submitted to 
Council for administrative hearings. Because there was not answer to the question, she has asked for a 
time line to be put together to find out details of who, what, when where and how the process was being 
handled and how the information fell thru the cracks. 
 
City Managers Comments 
 
Interim City Manager Robert Cheshire updated Council on the renumbering of MLK Drive by the 911 
Call Center. Councilman Boyum asked for a list to make sure everyone was satisfied with the changes. 
Mr. Cheshire said they would handle that at staff level as Councilman Boyum said that was satisfactory 
with him. 
City Clerk Sue Starling notified Council of the alcohol application for Huifen Han for the Southern Palace 
Restaurant. 
Director of Human Resource Jeff Grant updated Council on the Fit by ’15 program. Cynthia Carter was s 
the winner this month. Marcos Trejo was the winner for the most improved in steps and Councilman Phil 
Boyum was the winner from the Council members. 
Mr. Grant also updated Council on the “Run in the Boro” set for December 5th, 2014 with United Way 
being the beneficiary. 
 
Public Comments (General) 

A) Mrs. Carrie Howard request to speak with Council regarding the Whitesville 
Community. 

 
Ms. Howard spoke on the past and present conditions of the Whitesville Community. She asked when the 
community would become a priority for the City and not just for water, sewer and sanitation. She also 
asked about grants for the community. Interim City Manager Robert Cheshire stated because the 
community was a 501-C3, the City could not use its resources in the community. 
 

B) Nathan Queen request to speak to Council regarding the state of  affairs in Statesboro 
 
Nathan Queen stated he just wanted to know why it took the death of Michael Gatto before the City took 
action for alcohol violations. Mayor Moore stated again the issues were being investigated. 
 
Bill Thomas also talked about Councilmembers owing bars and why the Police Chief couldn’t do his job 
without consequences. He stated the leadership caused the death of the young man. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to adjourn. Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:15 am. 
 
 



 

 

Page 1 of 27 

 

City of Statesboro – Department of Planning & Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348      (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458   (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 15, 2014 

 

AN 12-05-01 

665 S&S RAILROAD BED ROAD 

ANNEXATION REQUEST 

LOCATION: 665 S&S Railroad Bed Road 

 

REQUEST: Annexation by the 100% method and 

zoning change from R25 (Single Family 

Residential - Bulloch County) District to 

R10 (Single-Family Residential). 

APPLICANT: W&L Developers, LLC 

OWNER(S): W&L Developers, LLC 

LAND AREA: 
a. 13.05 acres 

b. 1 acre 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 

a. 107 000007 000 

b. 107 00006A 000 

 

COUNCIL  

DISTRICT: 
5 (Chance) – (Projected) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting annexation and rezoning of the subject property from R25 (Single Family Residential – 
Bulloch County) to R10 (Single Family Residential) in the City of Statesboro. The subject site is a combination of two 
vacant parcels that total 14.05 acres.  The property is located at 665 Railroad Bed Road and abuts the S&S Greenway 
Trail and is contiguous to the existing municipal limits. The applicant is proposing to develop a residential subdivision.  
(See Exhibit A – Location Map & Exhibit B-Concept Plan) 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: 
R25 (Single Family Residential – Bulloch 
County) R20 (Single Family Residential) Undeveloped & Single Family Homes 

SOUTH: 
R10 & R15 (Single Family Residential), R4 
(High Density Residential) Undeveloped, Single Family Homes, Church, School 

EAST: 
R25 (Single Family Residential – Bulloch 
County) 

Undeveloped  

WEST 
R40 (Single Family Residential), R4 (High 
Density Residential), CR (Commercial 
Retail) 

Bypass and Undeveloped 

 
The subject parcel’s property lines abut the S&S Greenway Trail and is surrounded by property that is zoned for single 
family to high density residential and commercial uses located in both Bulloch County and City of Statesboro. Actual 
uses range from single family homes to undeveloped with Sallie Zetterower Elementary School located to the extreme 
south on Cawana Road inside the municipal limits. The properties across the S&S Greenway Trail were annexed into 
the municipal limits in 2013 and are planned to be residential developments. 



 

Page 2 of 27 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 15, 2014 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Developing” character area as identified by the 2009 City of Statesboro Future 

Development Map adopted by the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  The “Developing” character areas are 

identified as being primarily residential, but are under pressure to grow in a suburban manner. Development patterns 

should be evaluated to maximize opportunities for appropriate blending of residential, office, and commercial 

development. 

Small to mid-size retail and commercial, office, single family, and multifamily residential are all appropriate land uses for 

properties within the Developing character areas. Some suggested development and implementation strategies for the 

area include the following: 

 Large new developments should be master-planned to include mixed-uses wherever appropriate. 

 Promote street design that fosters traffic calming such as narrower residential streets, on-street parking, 

and addition of bicycle and pedestrian facilities. 

 There should be strong connectivity and continuity between each subdivision. 

 New developments should provide recreational facilities and open space to meet the needs of their 

residents. 

 Promote walking and bicycling as an alternative means of transportation through the provision of safe, 

accessible and connected networks. 

 Promote street design that fosters traffic calming such as narrower residential streets, on-street parking, 

and addition of bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda pages 16-17. 

These implementation strategies are also reflected in the 2009 Quality Community Objectives section of the 

comprehensive plan . 

Furthermore, the issues and opportunities element of the Plan recognizes that “the city has the opportunity to provide 

a different [housing] product than that which is typically offered in the county or in new subdivisions, thus minimizing 

the perceived competition between the City and County for new single-family development.” Page 62. 

The 2014 update to the Statesboro Master Comprehensive Master Plan, which is under consideration now  but not 

yet adopted, suggest the additional implementation strategies for this character area: 

 Traditional neighborhood design principles such as smaller lots, street orientation, mix of housing types, 

and pedestrian access to neighborhood commercial centers. 

 Residential development that offers a mix of housing types (single-family homes; townhomes; live /work 

units, and apartments) with a mix of densities and prices in the same neighborhood. 

 Clustering development to preserve open space 

 Site plans, building design and landscaping that are sensitive to natural features of the sites, including 

topography and views. 

 Traditional Neighborhood Design techniques, cluster developments, and the development of a variety of 

housing types, sizes, costs, and densities are best practices considered in the 2014 Quality Community 

objectives that may be applicable here and are under consideration in the proposed 2014 Plan Update. 

Policies in the Comprehensive Master Plan are intended to help local governments in the decision making process to 

achieve the Community Vision and address the Community Issues & Opportunities identified in the Comprehensive 

Plan.  Policies in the adopted 2009 plan that are applicable here include the following: 

 We will incorporate the connection, maintenance and enhancement of green-space in all new 

development, especially within the Developing areas. 

 We will encourage more compact urban development. 



 

Page 3 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 We will coordinate public facilities and services with land use planning to promote more compact urban 

development and work collaboratively with Bulloch County to promote long term coordinated growth and 

service delivery. 

 We will ensure that new development does not cause a decline in locally adopted level of service and 

that capital improvement or other strategies needed to accommodate the impacts of development are 

made or provided for concurrent with new development. 

 The community will encourage patterns of future development expansion in areas contiguous to 

developed areas with a utility extension policy that is sequential and phased and a related annexation 

policy to clearly articulate the service provisions. 

 Development shall provide for a variety of residential types and densities. 

 We will assist and facilitate affordable housing opportunities to insure that all those who work or attend 

school in the community have a viable choice or option to live in the community. 

 We will encourage  and accommodate our diverse population by encouraging a harmonious mixture of 

housing types and uses. 

 We will promote efficient use of land by promoting well designed, more pedestrian friendly, development 

patterns with a mix of uses and an efficient, creative use of land. 

 2014 Proposed Plan Update Policy recommendations include the following: 

o We will project and plan for population growth and prepare through annexations, utility expansions, 

and housing opportunities. 

o We will actively monitor and prepare for population growth based on national, state, and local 

trends. 

 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ISSUES: 

Bulloch County – Capital Cost Recovery District area requirements.   

Bulloch County and the City of Statesboro entered into a Capital Cost Recovery District Intergovernmental 

Agreement in 2007. (See Exhibit D -Intergovernmental Agreement)   Multiple issues, including the City’s elimination 

of the fee associated with this district raise questions as to the implications and requirements of this 

Intergovernmental Agreement.  However, if the Intergovernmental Agreement is strictly adhered to, then the 

agreement provides the following requirements: 

1) Residential equivalent units will be maximized at 2.4 per acre (the equivalent of R15 zoning -  

which is less density than currently requested at R10) unless those densities are planned and 

located near planned commercial services or nodes.  

2) Requires that the City and County participate in at least one joint planning meeting for the property. 

3) Development generating at or in excess of 1,000 trips per day shall require a traffic impact analysis. 

4) Dedication of determined right of way. 

5) Intra development street designs that discourages through traffic. 

6) Stormwater Management 

7) Joint City of Statesboro and Bulloch County approval of the design and construction of any 

roadway that interfaces with the S&S Greenway Trail. The Developer may be required to include 

traffic calming measures such as, but not limited to, curvatures, selective speed bumps, and lane 

narrowings, and may be required to pave portions. The City of Statesboro originally accepted this 

application June 4
th
, 2013 and Bulloch County was notified of that acceptance.  Bulloch County was 

notified of the City’s intention to consider annexation and zoning of these parcels on September 22, 

2014.  A joint planning meeting was requested by the City on September 26, 2014. 

 

 



 

Page 4 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property currently takes access from Railroad Bed Road adjacent to the S&S Greenway Trail.  Staff is of 
the opinion that the annexation and development of the subject site will require long term transportation planning and 
implementation during the subdivision and development stages. 
 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

The subject property is being connected to water and waste water services pursuant to previous Council approvals.    
Individual services will be provided within the development by developers.  Other services such as sanitation and public 
safety services will be extended upon the effective date of annexation. 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property appears to be partially located within wetland area. No negative impact is expected by this 
request.  Any potential issues will be addressed during standard permitting processes and reviews.  

ANALYSIS: 

The applicant is requesting to annex a 14.05 acre contiguous undeveloped site lying on Railroad Bed Road and 
abutting the S&S Greenway Trail. Section 2207 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance states that new areas being 
annexed into the City shall be considered to be in the R40 (Single Family Residential) district unless otherwise 
classified; thus, the applicant is requesting to zone the subject property R10 (Single Family Residential) to develop a 
residential subdivision that will consist of 34 lots with a minimum lot size of 10,000 square feet with development 
restricted to traditional single family structures. 

Ultimately, the request to annex the subject property as well as consideration of the proposed R10 (Single Family 
Residential) zoning designation should be considered in light of the vision and community policies articulated within the 
City’s two (2) primary land use policies: The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and The 2035 Bulloch County/City of 
Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan.  Both documents provide information that indicates that the applicant’s 
request to annex and zone the subject property at 665 Railroad Bed Road is consistent with the vision and land use 
policies adopted by the City of Statesboro given that this area is a proposed annexation area located in the developing 
character area which encourages master planned development with strong connectivity between subdivisions. 

Assuming approval of this annexation, staff will prepare the necessary updates to the City of Statesboro 
Comprehensive Plan; future land use map; and City boundary maps. 

SECTION 2007 FACTORS: 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby; 

a. Nearby property is zoned for similar uses and densities requested herein. 

b. Other nearby properties (located within the County) are zoned and utilized as single family 
neighborhoods. 

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 

(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 
health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 

(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 

a. The subject site is located within the area of long anticipated residential growth and 
development for the City. 

b. Housing styles and options requested by the public are growing and changing to include a 
variety of attached and detached unit styles. 

c. The population of the City of Statesboro has increased dramatically in recent years and is 
projected to continue to grow. 

d. The number of undeveloped residential lots –particularly for single family- are limited within the 
City. 

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 

a. There is no indication that the subject property is not suitable for the requested zoning. 



 

Page 5 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

a. The subject property is undeveloped and is located within the area most anticipated for 
residential growth in the City. 

b. The subject site is surrounded by other properties that are undeveloped but under pressure to 
develop in similar or complimentary fashions in the near future. 

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following:  population density in the area; 
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent areas; 

a. Development of the proposed property as requested would increase population density, 
community facilities, traffic patterns, and property values in adjacent areas. 

b. Traffic planning – and the expenses associated with the increase traffic in the area- should be 
addressed by the applicant, the City, and the County in this area. 

c. The development of the S&S Greenway Trail, a popular amenity adjacent to this subject site, 
increased the value and attractiveness of the subject site for residential development. 

d. The subject site was previously identified as a Future Annexation and Development Area in 
both the Bulloch County and City of Statesboro 2009 Future Land Development Maps. 

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 

a. This request is consistent with the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the 2009 
Future Land Development Maps for Bulloch County and the City of Statesboro. 

b. This request should be evaluated for consistency with the Capital Cost Recovery District 
Agreement between the City of Statesboro and Bulloch County. 

c. Transportation planning and funding should be addressed with this project in order to respond 
to the increased traffic congestion and the limited public right of way adjacent to and nearby 
the site.  The 2035 City of Statesboro and Bulloch County Long Range Transportation Plan 
should be referenced. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of the requested annexation with R10 (Single Family Residential) zoning designation 

requested by AN 12-05-01 with the following conditions: 
 

1. Reservation, dedication, and/or development of public rights of way and or easements may be required by 
the developer including fee simple right of ways along Cawana Road to provide for future widening of 
Cawana Road. 

2. Dedication of necessary easements and right of ways for utilities prior to approval of subdivision plats.   

3. Transportation infrastructure planning and development to City of Statesboro standards and to the 
satisfaction of the COS Engineer.  Such planning will include crosswalks and traffic claiming measures that 
shall be designed and approved at subdivision platting and permitting stages and shall be based on 
approved City of Statesboro standards, specifications, and long range planning. 

4. Access roads connecting to the S&S Railroad Bed Road shall be limited to right in/right out configurations 
unless they connect to the existing crossover drive locations.  

5. Developer may be required to install crosswalks and traffic calming measures to City of Statesboro and/or 
Bulloch County Design Standards at any full access roadway crossings and to provide safe crossings for 
pedestrians crossing the S&S Greenway Trail. 

6. Subdivision, design, and development of the property shall be in conformance with the requirements of all 
City of Statesboro Development Regulations, including the Statesboro Subdivision Regulations, the City of 
Statesboro Drainage Ordinance, the Statesboro Tree Ordinance, and all other developmental standards of 
the City of Statesboro.   

7. The Developer must extend 8” Sanitary Sewer main from the pump station to the site’s detention pond and a 
12” Water Main along the site’s southern boundary line. 



 

Page 6 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

8. Two percent (2%) of the property acreage (approximately .281 acres) shall be reserved for open green 
space reserved for community use, but shall be privately maintained by the owner, developer, or appropriate 
association.  
 

9. Internal sidewalk connectivity must be provided by the developer.  Sidewalk connectivity and crosswalks 
must also be provided from the development to the S&S Greenway Trail. 
 

10. Access points to Railroad Bed Road must be jointly approved by Bulloch County and the City of Statesboro. 
 
 

11. Requirements of The Capital Cost Recovery Area Intergovernmental Agreement apply as conditions and 
must be accomplished by the appropriate party.  

 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Planning Commission voted 4 to 0 to approve the requested annexation with R10 (Single Family Residential) zoning 
designation requested by AN 12-05-01 with staff recommended conditions and the addition of requiring the Developer 
to provide a buffer along the property boundary line with the exception of the frontage boundary line along the S&S 
Railroad Bed Road. 

Conditions:  

1. Reservation, dedication, and/or development of public rights of way and or easements may be required by 
the developer including fee simple right of ways along Cawana Road to provide for future widening of 
Cawana Road. 

2. Dedication of necessary easements and right of ways for utilities prior to approval of subdivision plats.   

3. Transportation infrastructure planning and development to City of Statesboro standards and to the 
satisfaction of the COS Engineer.  Such planning will include crosswalks and traffic claiming measures that 
shall be designed and approved at subdivision platting and permitting stages and shall be based on 
approved City of Statesboro standards, specifications, and long range planning. 

4. Access roads connecting to the S&S Railroad Bed Road shall be limited to right in/right out configurations 
unless they connect to the existing crossover drive locations.  

5. Developer may be required to install crosswalks and traffic calming measures to City of Statesboro and/or 
Bulloch County Design Standards at any full access roadway crossings and to provide safe crossings for 
pedestrians crossing the S&S Greenway Trail. 

6. Subdivision, design, and development of the property shall be in conformance with the requirements of all 
City of Statesboro Development Regulations, including the Statesboro Subdivision Regulations, the City of 
Statesboro Drainage Ordinance, the Statesboro Tree Ordinance, and all other developmental standards of 
the City of Statesboro.   

7. The Developer must extend 8” Sanitary Sewer main from the pump station to the site’s detention pond and a 
12” Water Main along the site’s southern boundary line. 

8. Two percent (2%) of the property acreage (approximately .281 acres) shall be reserved for open green 
space reserved for community use, but shall be privately maintained by the owner, developer, or appropriate 
association.  
 

9. Internal sidewalk connectivity must be provided by the developer.  Sidewalk connectivity and crosswalks 
must also be provided from the development to the S&S Greenway Trail. 
 

10. Access points to Railroad Bed Road must be jointly approved by Bulloch County and the City of Statesboro. 
 

11. Requirements of The Capital Cost Recovery Area Intergovernmental Agreement apply as conditions and 
must be accomplished by the appropriate party.  
 

12. The Developer must provide a buffer along the property boundary line with the exception of the frontage 
boundary line along the S&S Railroad Bed Road. 
 

 

 

 



 

Page 7 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 
EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 



 

Page 8 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

EXHIBIT B: CONCEPT PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 9 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

EXHIBIT C: RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT ANNEXATION 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C: RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT ANNEXATION CONT’D 

 



 

Page 10 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 



 

Page 11 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 12 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

EXHIBIT D: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONT’D 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONT’D 



 

Page 13 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONT’D 



 

Page 14 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONT’D 



 

Page 15 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 16 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONT’D 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONT’D 



 

Page 17 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 18 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONT’D 

 

 

 



 

Page 19 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONT’D 

 

 

 



 

Page 20 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONT’D 

 

 

 



 

Page 21 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONT’D 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONT’D 



 

Page 22 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 23 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D: INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT CONT’D 

 

EXHIBIT E: ORDINANCE TO ANNEX PROPERTY 



 

Page 24 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT F: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 



 

Page 25 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

Photo 1:  West view of Subject Site from S&S Railroad Bed Road 

 

 

 

 

 

Photo 2: North view of Subject Site from S&S Railroad Bed Road 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT F: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT SITE CONT’D 



 

Page 26 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

Photo 3: Eastern view from S&S Railroad Bed Road with the Subject Site on the left abutting S&S Railroad 
Bed Rd & the adjacent property to the South of the Subject Site on the right abutting the S&S Greenway Trail 

 

 

 

 

Photo 4:  Property to the direct South of Subject Site abutting S&S Greenway Trail that is zoned R4 & R10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT F: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT SITE CONT’D 



 

Page 27 of 27 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-05-01 

October 10, 2014 

 

 

Photo 5: West view from S&S Railraod Bed Road with Subject Site to the North, Cawana Road and S&S 
Greenway Trail crossing to the West and undeveloped adjacent property to the South that was recently 
rezoned to R4 & R10. 

 



PAGE 1 OF 1 
 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

ORDINANCE  2014 - 03 

ORDINANCE 2014 03: 
AN ORDINANCE TO ANNEX PROPERTY  

INTO THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia have received 
petition from W & L Developers, LLC, who are the owners of 100 percent of the property to be 
annexed; and, 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 36 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, in 
order to annex property, to provide an effective date and other provisions, the Mayor and City 
Council must approve an ordinance of annexation; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 

Section 1.  All that area contiguous to the City of Statesboro know as Bulloch County Tax 
Map Parcel 107 00000 7000, being 13.5 acres in size, as shown on the attached Bulloch County Tax 
Parcel Map, is hereby annexed into the City of Statesboro and made a part of said city. 

 
Section 2.  This ordinance shall become effective on November 1, 2014.. 
 
Section 3.  The Director of Planning & Community Development of the City of Statesboro is 

instructed to send a report that includes certified copies of this ordinance, the name of the county in 
which the property being annexed is located and a letter from the City stating the intent to add the 
annexed area to the Census maps during the next survey and stating that the survey map will be 
completed and returned to the United States Census Bureau, Georgia Department of Community 
Affairs, and to the governing authority of Bulloch County, Georgia within thirty (30) days after the 
effective date of the annexation as set forth in Section 2. 

 
Section 4.  On the effective date of the annexation, this property shall be placed in Council 

District 5 of the City of Statesboro. 
 
Section 5.  This property shall be zoned ___________________and located in the 

“Developing” character area as shown on the City of Statesboro Future Development Map pursuant 
to the vote of the Statesboro City Council held on October 21, 2014 subsequent to a public hearing 
regarding the zoning of said property.    

 
 Passed and adopted on two separate readings. 
 First Reading: October 7, 2014.  
 Second Reading: October 21, 2014. 
 
 
THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
  
 __________________________   ________________________________ 
By:  Jan Moore, Mayor     Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk 



PAGE 1 OF 1 
 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

ORDINANCE  2014 - 04 

ORDINANCE 2014 04: 
AN ORDINANCE TO ANNEX PROPERTY  

INTO THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia have received 
petition from W & L Developers, LLC, who are the owners of 100 percent of the property to be 
annexed; and, 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 36 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, in 
order to annex property, to provide an effective date and other provisions, the Mayor and City 
Council must approve an ordinance of annexation; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 

Section 1.  All that area contiguous to the City of Statesboro know as Bulloch County Tax 
Map Parcel 107 000006A 000, being 1 acre in size, as shown on the attached Bulloch County Tax 
Parcel Map, is hereby annexed into the City of Statesboro and made a part of said city. 

 
Section 2.  This ordinance shall become effective on November 1, 2014.. 
 
Section 3.  The Director of Planning & Community Development of the City of Statesboro is 

instructed to send a report that includes certified copies of this ordinance, the name of the county in 
which the property being annexed is located and a letter from the City stating the intent to add the 
annexed area to the Census maps during the next survey and stating that the survey map will be 
completed and returned to the United States Census Bureau, Georgia Department of Community 
Affairs, and to the governing authority of Bulloch County, Georgia within thirty (30) days after the 
effective date of the annexation as set forth in Section 2. 

 
Section 4.  On the effective date of the annexation, this property shall be placed in Council 

District 5 of the City of Statesboro. 
 
Section 5.  This property shall be zoned ___________________and located in the 

“Developing” character area as shown on the City of Statesboro Future Development Map pursuant 
to the vote of the Statesboro City Council held on October 21, 2014 subsequent to a public hearing 
regarding the zoning of said property.    

 
 Passed and adopted on two separate readings. 
 First Reading: October 7, 2014.  
 Second Reading: October 21, 2014. 
 
 
THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
  
_____________________________   ________________________________ 
By:  Jan Moore, Mayor     Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk 



 

City of Statesboro – Department of Planning & Development 

              DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

                              P.O. Box 348          (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458   (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 

 

RZ 14-08-03 

 ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

Walnut Street 

 

LOCATION: 

 

Walnut Street Lots 4, 5, 6 & B 

 

REQUEST: 
Rezone from O (Office) district to R4 (High 

Density Residential) district. 

APPLICANT: Hendley Properties 

OWNER(S): John Ray Hendley 

LAND AREA: .916 acre 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 
S19 000035 002 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 2 (Lewis)  

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting the rezoning of .916 acre of property located at Walnut Street Lots 4, 5, 6 & B from O 
(Office) District to R4 (High Density Residential) District to create a small downtown residential development. (See 
Exhibit A – Location Map & Exhibit B –Concept Plan), 

BACKGROUND:    

The subject site is currently vacant and zoned O (Office).  It is located on Walnut Street, directly adjacent to the rear of  
Queensborough National Bank & Trust which is located on South Main Street.  In 2001, the subject site was rezoned 
from R3 (Medium Density Multi Family Residential) district to O (Office) district. The site originally contained three multi-
family residential structures that were built in 1975.  Over the years, the structures had become dilapidated and too 
costly to repair.  In July 2014 the applicant purchased the subject site and donated two of the structures to the City of 
Statesboro Fire Department to be used for structural burn training and the third structure was relocated to a site outside 
of the City of Statesboro boundaries.  The site has since been cleared and is ready for redevelopment. 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R3 (Medium Density Multi Family Residential)  

& HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) 

Multi Family Residential & Commercial Retail 

SOUTH: R3 (Medium Density Multi  Family Residential) & 

R4 (High Density Residential)  

High Density & Multi Family Residential 

EAST: HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) & O 
(Office) 

Commercial Retail & Offices 

WEST: R3 (Medium Density Multi  Family Residential) & 

R4 (High Density Residential) 

High Density & Mullti Family Residential 



2of 11 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 14-08-02 
October 15, 2014 
 
 
 
 

The subject property is located in a primarily medium to high density residential use area with the north east and 
eastern property line backed by office and commercial uses such as a bank, restaurants, library etc. (See Exhibit A – 

Location Map & Exhibit C- Photos of Subject Site & Surroundings) 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Urban Core” character area as identified by the City of Statesboro Future 

Development Map within the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  The “Urban Core” character areas are 

identified as the activity and cultural hub of the region and support a wide range of acceptable uses. As a major 

gateway into downtown, traditional development patterns of buildings along the sidewalk and a lively streetscape are 

respected and promoted, while encouraging retail uses with large storefront windows at street level. 

Neighborhood-scaled retail and commercial, arts and entertainment venues, civic centers, office, neighborhood 

services, lofts and urban residential including single-family residential along secondary streets, mixed use, multi-story 

buildings with retail on the street and office/residential above are all appropriate land uses for properties within the 

Urban Core character area. Some suggested development and implementation strategies for the area include the 

following: 

 Encourage mixed-use infill and redevelopment. 

 New development should respect historic context of building mass, height and setbacks. 

 Economic development strategies should continue to nurture thriving commercial activity. 

 Develop sites within the southern portions of the character area (especially along South Main, generally from 
Grady Street to Fair Road) in a manner that promotes the functional and aesthetic objectives of the 
character area while providing a greater physical linkage between Georgia Southern University and 
downtown. 
 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda pages 12-13. 

DOWNTOWN STATESBORO DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 2011 MASTER PLAN: 

The Statesboro Downtown Master Plan identifies downtown Statesboro as the community’s neighborhood which 

requires nurturing so it can evolve into a vibrant mixed-use center, offering opportunities to work, live, shop and play.  
The subject site is located within the DDA (Downtown Development Authority) district.  The land use strategy identifies 
sites in the vicinity of West Cherry Street offer potential locations for high density housing. (See Exhibit D- Land Use 
Strategy Map)  Within that area high-density housing would comprise buildings which are two to four-stories in height 
with a density of 8 to 12 units per acre.  This site was identified as a recommended location for development in the 
near-term: 

 Underutilized or vacant parcels – including a significant number of sites that accommodate infill, high-density 
construction. 

 Amenities – proximate to transit (when available or planned), new parks, retail and services within short 
walking distances. 

Statesboro Downtown Master Plan, Land Use Strategy page 41. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

The subject site is currently served by city utilities including water and sewer, sanitation, and public safety services.  No 
significant impact is expected on community facilities as a result of this request.  

 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in special flood hazard zones.  There is no expected 
environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during 
standard permitting and review procedures. 

 

 

 



3of 11 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 14-08-02 
October 15, 2014 
 
 
 
 

ANALYSIS: 

This property is located within the DSDA district.  (See Exhibit D-DSDA Map)  The entire .916 acre site is currently 

zoned O (Office) and is vacant. The applicant’s request to rezone the property from O (Office) to R4 (High Density 
Residential) would allow for the construction of the purposed residential development that is anticipated to have six 
duplexes, each structure containing two (2) one bedroom units for a total of 12 bedrooms.   Each duplex is anticipated 
to be a total square footage of 1250 square feet, making each unit 625 square feet.  The applicant has expressed a 
growing increase of demand for one bedroom units from young professionals.  The applicant currently has a waiting list 
that will provide an occupant for each of the twelve proposed units if this request is approved. 
 
The subject site is surrounded  by residential uses with the eastern property line backed by office and commercial uses.  
It should be noted that the O (Office) zoning district is restricted to only office developments.  Furthermore the R4 (High 
Density Residential) zoning district has a stated purpose of encouraging the logical and timely development of land use 
for apartment and other high-density residential purposes in accordance with the future land use plan and to permit a 
variety of housing while assuring suitable design of apartments in order to protect the surrounding environment and 
nearby neighborhoods.  The R4 (High Density Residential) zoning district also restricts density to twelve (12) dwelling 
units per developable acre.  As such, at .916 acre, this site would not be permitted to have any additional residential 
units than that which is being proposed in the concept plan. 
 
This request would allow for a small professional living environment with mixed uses in close proximity to allow for and 
encourage walkability as recommended by City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the 2035 Bulloch County/City of 
Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan.  Numerous Policies, Goals, and Implementation strategies of the 2009 
Comprehensive Plan and the drafted (but not approved) 2014 update recommend the addition of housing in the 
downtown area.  The proposed concept plan was presented at a scheduled Right Start meeting on September 21, 
2014.  The Right Start Development team evaluated the plan and agreed that the proposed concept plan can be 
developed in accordance with the City of Statesboro Development Regulations. 
 
The request to rezone the subject property should be considered in light of the standards for determination of zoning 
map amendments given in Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance; the vision and community policies 
articulated within the city’s two (2) primary land use policies: The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the 2035 
Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan; and the potential for the property to develop in 
conformance with the requirements of the proposed R4 (High Density Residential) zoning district for residential uses 
only as set forth in the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 
 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby; 

 Existing uses and zoning of nearby property range from high and medium residential housing to 
commercial and office uses.  According to the Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, this area 
provides urban style housing opportunities through live-work and loft housing. Expanding housing 
options in downtown is encouraged.  

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 
(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 

health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 

 The dilapidated and unsafe structures were removed in anticipation of this project. 
(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 

 The proposed residential development is much more desirable and aesthetically pleasing than the 
existing vacant property while providing unique housing options to young professionals in the 
downtown area. 

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 

 The proposed land use meets the provisions of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance and the 
Comprehensive Plan, and the Downtown Statesboro Master Plan. 

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 



4of 11 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 14-08-02 
October 15, 2014 
 
 
 
 

 Due to the unsafe conditions of the previous structures, the property has been vacant for some 
time now. 

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following:  population density in the area; 
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent areas; 

 The proposed use is not expected to have a negative impact on population density, community 
facilities, living conditions, traffic patterns and property values in adjacent areas, and is not 
expected to be negative or burdensome to the general public or surrounding property owners. 

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 

 The requested zoning map amendment is consistent with the policies articulated within the 2035 
Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan. 

 The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan adopts a goal of “promot[ing] infill and redevelopment”  
stating that “infill development, which consists of developing vacant lots dispersed in developed 
areas, strengthens neighborhoods and reinvests money into infrastructure which is already in 
place”. (Community Agenda, page 51).  The requested utilization of the subject site would achieve 
this goal. 

 Use of the property as high density residential is consistent with the vision and guiding principles of 
the “Urban Core” character area as articulated within the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan which 

promotes new developments to include mixed uses such as small to mid-size retail, single family 
residential, and multifamily residential. 

 Developing this area as requested realizes the vision of the 2011 DSDA Master Plan and its 
suggested land uses at this location. 

 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Based on the factors of consideration for zoning map amendments given in Section 2007, the Comprehensive Plan, 
and The Statesboro Downtown Master Plan staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment requested by 
application RZ 14-08-03 with the following conditions: 

 Sidewalks within the development must have interconnectivity with the existing sidewalk on Grady Street and 
the developer must install sidewalk along Walnut Street that interconnects to the development and meets the 
standard sidewalk requirements of the Statesboro Engineering Department. 

 Landscaping or architectural features shall be provided at the corner of West Grady and South Walnut Streets 
to reduce the angular appearance of the buildings at the street corner. 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

Planning Commission voted 4 to 0 to approve the zoning map amendment request RZ 14-08-03 with the staff 
recommended conditions with the exception of installing sidewalk along Walnut Street. 

Conditions: 

 Sidewalks within the development must have interconnectivity with the existing sidewalk on Grady Street 
and meet the standard sidewalk requirements of the Statesboro Engineering Department. 

 Landscaping or architectural features shall be provided at the corner of West Grady and South Walnut 
Streets to reduce the angular appearance of the buildings at the street corner. 

   

 (Please note: Unless otherwise stated in any formal motion by City Council, staff considers the conceptual site plan 
(Exhibit B) submitted on behalf of the applicant for this request to be illustrative only.  Approval of the application does 
not constitute approval of any final building or site plan). 

 

 

 



5of 11 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 14-08-02 
October 15, 2014 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 

 



6of 11 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 14-08-02 
October 15, 2014 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT B: PROPOSED CONCEPT PLAN 

 

 

 

 



7of 11 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 14-08-02 
October 15, 2014 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT C: STATESBORO DOWNTOWN MASTER PLAN, LAND USE STRATEGY MAP 

 

 

 



8of 11 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 14-08-02 
October 15, 2014 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT D:  DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



9of 11 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 14-08-02 
October 15, 2014 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT E – PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 

 

 

Photo 1: Subject Site from Walnut Street currently zoned Office 

 

 

 

 

 

Photo 2:  Adjoining properties to the South of the Subject Site zoned R3 & R4 

 

 

 

 

 



10of 11 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 14-08-02 
October 15, 2014 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT E – PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 

 

Photo 3: Adjoining property to the West of Subject Site zoned R4 (High Density) 

 

 

 

 

Photo 4: Adjacent property to the direct East of Subject Site zoned Office 

 

 

 



11of 11 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 14-08-02 
October 15, 2014 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT E – PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 

 

 

Photo 5:  Adjacent property to the North of the Subject Site zoned R3 (Single Family) 

 

 

 

 

 

Photo 6:  Commercial property to the North East of the Subject Site 

 

 



Resolution 2014-32: A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING RIGHT OF WAY OF ARCH WAY AS A PUBLIC 
STREET TO BE OWNED AND MAINTAINED BY THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA. 

 WHEREAS, Polestar GA Statesboro (Fair), LLC  is the owner of one street segment known as 
Arch Way, and wishes to convey said street to the City of Statesboro; and 

 WHEREAS, with the planned growth of the surrounding area, the City believes it is in the best 
interest of the public for those roads to be public streets, owned and maintained by the City; 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled this______ day of ________, 2014, as follows: 

 Section 1. That Arch Way is hereby formally accepted by dedication to the City of 
Statesboro as a public street and rights of way to be owned and maintained by the City of Statesboro. 

 Section 2. That this Resolution authorize and direct the Mayor of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia to accept the dedication of the following described property by virtue of a right of way deed. 

 Section 3. All of that certain tract or parcel of land situate, lying and being in the 1209th G. 
M. District of  Bulloch County, Georgia, and in the City of Statesboro, being that certain 60’ right-of-way 
of Arch Way, containing 0.47 acres, more or less, as more particularly shown on a plat prepared by EMC 
Engineering Services, Inc., Georgia Registered Land Surveyors, dated March 13, 2014, and recorded in 
Plat Book 65, Page 460, Bulloch County records. 

   The above referenced plat and the description thereon are by reference 
incorporated herein for all purposes of this description. 

 Section 4. That this Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from and after its 
date of adoption. 

 Passed and adopted this _____ day of ________, 2014. 

 

THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA. 
  

By:___________________ 
 Mrs. Jan Moore, Mayor 

 
Attest:___________________ 

 Ms. Sue Starling, City Clerk  






















	10-21-2014 Council Agenda
	10-07-2014 Council minutes
	10-2014 AN 12-05-01 AMENDED STAFF REPORT
	10-2014-03 AN_12-05-01_Annex_ORDINANCE
	10-2014-04 AN_12-05-01_Annex_ORDINANCE
	10-2014 RZ 14-08-03 AMENDED STAFF REPORT
	10-2014-32 Resolution Arch Way - Resolution for Street Dedication (Oct 2014)
	10-2014 Archway-attach to resolution
	10-2014 Parker Engineering

